



U4 HELPDESK ANSWER 2025: 8

Alternative strategies to improve public sector integrity in contexts characterised by systemic corruption

Miloš Resimić

Reviewed by Jamie Bergin (TI) David Jackson (U4)

Contexts characterised by systemic corruption require alternative strategies to anti-corruption programming to effectively enhance public sector integrity. Traditional anticorruption interventions rooted in the principal-agent model such as strengthening monitoring systems and promoting transparency — are unlikely to succeed on their own but can be more effective when complemented by alternative strategies that are sensitive to local contexts and realities. These strategies include social norms interventions, social empowerment, reducing vulnerabilities to corruption, horizontal enforcement and top-down leadership changes.



Helpdesk Answers are tailor-made research briefings compiled in ten working days. The U4 Helpdesk is a free research service run in collaboration with Transparency International.

tihelpdesk@transparency.org



Related U4 reading

The effectiveness of integrity led anticorruption interventions (2022)

Anti-corruption through a social norms lens (2018)

Public sector integrity topic guide (2015)

Published

19 March 2025

Keywords

Collective action - horizontal enforcement – - public sector – public integrity – social empowerment – social norms – social empowerment – reducing vulnerabilities – top-down reforms

Query

Please provide an overview of the emerging lessons on improving public sector integrity in contexts characterised by systemic corruption.

Main points

- Contexts of systemic corruption are typically characterised by the existence of high levels of corruption, deeply embedded informal networks and the prevalence of corruption-sustaining norms.
- Traditional anti-corruption interventions grounded in principal-agent model may not succeed in improving public sector integrity in such contexts for a number of reasons, including a lack of commitment on the part of principals to enforce anticorruption reforms and the presence of embedded corruption-sustaining norms.
- Complementing traditional anti-corruption interventions with alternative strategies that are sensitive to local contexts and realities and responsive to collective action problems is a more promising approach.
- The alternative strategies that have been most influential in the literature can be grouped under five broad categories: social norms, social empowerment, reducing vulnerabilities to corruption, horizontal enforcement and top-down leadership changes.
- Understanding the underlying corruptionsustaining social norms in a specific context can help in designing more effective anti-corruption interventions that respond to rather than clash with these norms.
- Social empowerment through strategies such as establishing 'pockets of effectiveness' and implementing capacity-

building programmes – can help dismantle deeply embedded informal networks.

- To reduce vulnerabilities to corruption, it is important to recognise that corruption can play a functional role when formal institutions are dysfunctional. Addressing underlying institutional inefficiencies can help rebuild trust in formal institutions.
- The horizontal enforcement of anticorruption programming is more likely to succeed if efforts are made to understand the political realities of specific local contexts, identify key leaders, assess their incentives and pinpoint potential coalitions that are most likely to be interested and incentivised to push for enforcement of anti-corruption reforms.
- Ethical leadership tackles systemic corruption by promoting integrity and accountability within public institutions, with leaders serving as role models who set ethical standards for their peers and subordinates.
- These alternative strategies are relatively new and, while empirical research testing of their assumptions is still nascent, some studies have emerged that show promising findings.

Contents

Systemic corruption	5
Limitations of traditional approaches in enhancing public sector integrity in contexts with system corruption: A way forward	nic 6
Alternative strategies: enhancing public sector integrity in contexts characterised by systemic co	rruption 10
Social norm-based approaches	10
Social empowerment	13
Addressing the functional role of corruption	15
Horizontal enforcement	16
Top-down leadership change	18
Big bang versus incremental approach	19
References	20

Systemic corruption

Systemic corruption is a term often employed within the anti-corruption field, but without a single definition. Herath et al. (2019) describe systemic corruption as contexts where corruption is 'endemic, pervasive and embedded in the very fabric in social life'. Jackson et al. (2019: 1) argue that systemic corruption exists 'when a corrupt act recurs consistently and is connected to other corrupt acts through an underlying system that enables and encourages the corruption'. Johnston (1998: 86) argues that systemic corruption is 'not only more extensive but is also a qualitatively different problem, embedded in political and economic systems'.

Broadly speaking, the literature on systemic corruption emphasises key characteristics such as the existence of high levels of corruption, deeply embedded informal networks and the prevalence of corruption-sustaining norms (Chayes 2016; Herath et al. 2019; Chiao 2021; Baez Camargo et al. 2021; Gofen et al. 2022).

In contexts characterised by systemic corruption, empirical studies (Marquette and Peiffer 2018; Johnsøn et al. 2012) indicate that addressing corruption solely through traditional and individual-level anti-corruption interventions, such as improving monitoring systems and promoting transparency, may not yield positive results. Instead, there is a need to consider alternative strategies that are sensitive to the specific context, the norms that are prevalent there and the role of informal networks that sustain corruption (Jackson and Köbis 2018; Jackson 2022). This Helpdesk Answer explores these alternative approaches to anti-corruption programming aimed at improving public sector integrity in contexts characterised by systemic corruption.

Limitations of traditional approaches in enhancing public sector integrity in contexts with systemic corruption: A way forward

Anti-corruption programming has been predominantly influenced by the principalagent framework. According to this framework, corruption happens when public officials have discretion over the provision of public services and lack accountability (Marquette and Peiffer 2018). These models explain individual instances of corruption by emphasising that decisions are made based on rational choice (Marquette and Peiffer 2018). Consequently, the expectation is that corruption can be addressed through policies that alter the rational choice calculations of individuals (Marquette and Peiffer 2018).

The principal-agent model broadly assumes that modifying incentives, discretion and the degree to which principals are able to monitor and sanction their agents can reduce corruption (Marquette and Peiffer 2018: 3). Consequently, anti-corruption interventions have typically focused on reducing the discretion of public officials, increasing monitoring mechanisms, promoting transparency in government and strengthening sanctions on those who engage in corruption, among other reform efforts (Marquette and Peiffer 2018: 3).

Such anti-corruption interventions also largely correspond with the individual-level measures that are employed with the goal of enhancing public sector integrity¹ and are also typically focused on influencing the behaviour of public officials through a combination of incentives, monitoring and structural reforms (Gans-Morse et al. 2018; Jenkins 2022). Common approaches include:

 rewards and penalties: implementing wage increases, offering performancebased incentives and fostering intrinsic motivations while enforcing penalties for misconduct

¹ Public integrity can be defined as 'the consistent alignment of, and adherence to, shared ethical values, principles and norms for upholding and prioritising the public interest over private interests in the public sector' (OECD 2017).

- monitoring: using audits and transparency initiatives
- restructuring bureaucracies: reducing bureaucratic discretion, introducing staff rotation, establishing whistleblowing mechanisms and simplifying procedures to limit opportunities for corruption
- screening and recruiting: promoting meritocratic recruitment processes
- anti-corruption agencies: establishing independent bodies tasked with preventing, investigating and prosecuting corruption
- educational campaigns: raising awareness about the harms of corruption and promoting ethical behaviour through public education initiatives (Gans-Morse et al. 2018; Huberts 1998; Avis et al. 2016; Jenkins 2022; Mugellini et al. 2021; Resimić 2022, 2023).

However, anti-corruption interventions grounded in the principal-agent framework may have had limited effects, especially in contexts characterised by systemic corruption (Mungiu-Pippidi 2006; Persson et al. 2013). The principal-agent approach has faced significant criticism from scholars who argue that its assumptions are not fully applicable in such settings (Persson et al. 2013; Marquette et al. 2014; Mungiu-Pippidi 2011, 2015; Rothstein and Teorell 2015; Rothstein and Varriach 2017). These critics argue that the principal-agent theory incorrectly assumes the existence of principals who would be committed to enforcing anti-corruption reforms, when, in fact, such commitment is often lacking in highly corrupt environments (Persson et al. 2013). Consequently, traditional anti-corruption interventions, such as monitoring and sanction regimes, tend to be ineffective because there are few, if any, actors motivated to enforce them (Persson et al. 2013)

Relying solely on traditional anti-corruption interventions in contexts of systemic corruption is problematic for several reasons. First, these reforms are grounded in a specific understanding of how states function, an understanding based on the experiences of Western-style states and organisations, assuming the widespread presence of a 'bureaucratic ethos', which is not the case in contexts characterised by widespread corruption (McDonnell 2020).

Second, anti-corruption strategies grounded in the principal-agent framework often overlook the significance of informal networks that engage in and sustain corruption. Informal networks in these contexts fill the space of missing institutions or exploit legal ambiguities, and their social embeddedness requires alternative strategies to address deeply embedded corruption (Jackson et al. 2019; Schoenman 2014). In such environments, rule-following behaviour² may be the exception rather than the norm. As a result, anti-corruption strategies that neglect the fact that powerful political actors operate within deeply entrenched networks allowing them to violate rules with impunity, are unlikely to change their behaviour (Khan et al. 2019).

Third, these contexts create a collective action problem where actors are disincentivised from acting against corruption, even if they personally disapprove of it (Persson et al. 2013; Marquette and Peiffer 2018). The implication is that even 'honest principals' would have little incentives to avoid engaging in corruption, in contexts were corruption is perceived as widespread (Persson et al. 2013; Mungiu-Pippidi 2015; Marquette and Peiffer 2018). Viewing corruption in this way highlights its collective nature and puts the focus on a difficult challenge of addressing high levels of distrust in society and the corruption-sustaining norms (Marquette and Peiffer 2018). Olson's theory of collective action stresses that, despite shared objectives, group members will often refrain from collective action although that would be in the group's best interest. Instead, at least some members will 'free-ride' on others' efforts (i.e. will decide not to refrain from corruption but still aim to reap the benefits of reforms) (see Olson 1965; Hawkins 2022).

Fourth, the literature also suggests that sensitivity to local contexts is important, and that local conditions need to be assessed prior to devising anti-corruption interventions. For instance, identifying influential local leaders who have specific knowledge and networks that can mobilise support and inspire change can be useful when devising anti-corruption interventions (Jackson and Amundsen 2022). Mungiu-Pippidi and Dadašov (2017) found that contextual factors play a significant role in influencing the effectiveness of certain anti-corruption interventions. They argue that in the absence of the rule of law, the legal toolbox of anti-corruption is unlikely to work; for example, anti-corruption agencies can be used for selective targeting of political opponents (Mungiu-Pippidi and Dadašov 2017).

Finally, Marquette and Peiffer (2018) argue that existing approaches to anticorruption programming neglect to consider that corruption sometimes serves a function, for example, when formal institutions (e.g. public services) are ineffective or dysfunctional. Therefore, it is critical to understand and address the underlying shortcomings of formal institutions to provide viable alternatives to entrenched problem-solving corruption networks (see Kubbe et al. 2024).

However, this does not mean that traditional anti-corruption interventions, based on the principal-agent framework, should be overlooked. Indeed, evidence indicates that

² For Khan et al. (2019), the rule-following behaviour refers to contexts in which there is an enforcement of a general rule of law, such as strong property rights protection.

the effectiveness of some alternative measures may be limited if carried out in isolation from robust enforcement mechanisms (Jenkins 2022).

Instead, many scholars advocate for a combined approach. For example, Marquette and Peiffer argue (2018) that alternative approaches can complement broader reforms that frame corruption as a collective action problem, while Jackson and Köbis (2018) argue targeting social norms can help in making traditional anticorruption interventions more effective.

Alternative strategies: enhancing public sector integrity in contexts characterised by systemic corruption

Having addressed the limitations of anti-corruption interventions based on the principle-agent framework, this section explores five alternative strategies that recognise the collective nature of corruption and the specific dynamics of contexts characterised by systemic corruption. These strategies can complement the traditional anti-corruption programming, enhancing its effectiveness. They include:

- social norm-based approaches
- social empowerment
- addressing the functional role of corruption
- horizontal enforcement
- top-down leadership changes

This section closes with a short discussion on whether a 'big bang' or incremental approach works best to deliver such strategies and improve public sector integrity.

Social norm-based approaches

As a collective behaviour, corruption is often sustained by social norms, particularly in contexts characterised by widespread corruption (Jackson and Köbis 2018). Social norms can be defined as the mutual expectations held by members of a group regarding appropriate behaviour in specific situations (Scharbatke-Church and Chigas 2019; Mackie et al. 2015; Bicchieri 2017). These norms can affect the extent to which individuals engage in corruption and extent to which they expect others to do the same (Kubbe et al. 2024). Social norms can incentivise individuals' corrupt behaviour and facilitate corruption (Kubbe and Engelbert 2018; Baez Camargo et al. 2019).

As Mullard (2020) emphasises, there is no single norm of corruption but instead certain norms may in specific contexts promote corruption. For example, families in Tanzania invest in their children's education in medical schools, expecting that once they become a practicing doctor, they will support the family. As the salaries in the public health sector are low, these individuals are incentivised to engage in using public office to extract rents, through practices such as bribery, to honour their family obligations (Kubbe et al. 2024).

There are two types of social norms that may play a role in promoting corrupt behaviour:

- descriptive norms refer to a perceived frequency of corrupt behaviour within a social environment
- injunctive norms refer to perceived acceptability of corrupt behaviour as an appropriate behaviour within a social context (see e.g. Köbis et al. 2019; Mullard 2020).

Recognising these kinds of norms can support the design of more effective anticorruption interventions. For example, Jackson and Köbis (2018) suggest identifying social normative pressures³ that sustain corruption in a specific context and tailoring anti-corruption reforms accordingly. They emphasise that interventions which are locally grounded and locally led have greater chances in succeeding and avoiding unintended consequences (Jackson and Köbis 2018). Specifically, they suggest that standard anti-corruption strategies – such as changes in formal rules (e.g. anticorruption legislation) monitoring and enforcement strategies (e.g. anticorruption strategies – such as changes in formal rules (e.g. anticorruption legislation) monitoring and enforcement strategies (e.g. anticorruption strategies – such as changes in formal rules (e.g. anticorruption legislation) monitoring and enforcement strategies (e.g. anticorruption strategies – such as changes in formal rules (e.g. anticorruption legislation) monitoring and enforcement strategies (e.g. antishould be complemented by social norms strategies aimed at alleviating social pressures that perpetuate corrupt behaviour.

Jackson and Köbis (2018) suggest a number of methods that could be used to address each different type of corruption-sustaining pressure. For instance, to counteract kinship norms that pressure individuals into corrupt acts, they recommend leveraging trendsetters: influential individuals who can inspire broader social change. These targeted interventions focus on empowering such individuals, who can be most effectively identified through social network analysis methods (Jackson and Köbis 2018: 36-37).

Köbis et al. (2019) emphasise that, for traditional anti-corruption approaches to succeed, the critical role that social norms play in shaping corrupt behaviour should be acknowledged (Köbis et al. 2019). If not, traditional measures may have only limited

³ They distinguish between social normative pressures stemming from society (sociability and kinship pressures) and those from within organisations (vertical and horizontal) (Jackson and Köbis 2018: 6).

effects as seen in cases like public salary increase programmes that fail to reduce corruption on their own (Soraperra et al. 2019; Köbis et al. 2019). Conversely, the impact of nudging interventions, such as integrity messaging, is also likely to be limited in high-corruption settings unless they address the underlying material drivers of corruption (i.e. low salaries) (see Falisse and Leszczynska 2022; Jenkins 2022).

Similarly, several studies highlight the negative effects of excluding consideration of social norms from anti-corruption programming, which may result in even exacerbating corruption, particularly in fragile contexts (see Scharbatke-Church and Chigas 2019; Hoffmann and Patel 2017). Specifically, measures aimed at increasing oversight and capacity building within the Ugandan criminal justice system helped build capacity and put accountability mechanisms in place (Scharbatke-Church and Chigas 2019: 21). However, these reforms were not effective in reducing the overall scale of corruption, and Scharbatke-Church and Chigas (2019: 22) found that social norms were the main explanation for undermining these reform efforts. Namely, police and judicial officials faced peer pressure to conform to corruption-sustaining social norms and suffered consequences when they went against such norms, such as transfers to remote posts (Scharbatke-Church and Chigas 2019: 22).

A report by Scharbatke-Church et al. (2020) was commissioned on the challenges in implementing Section 46 of Uganda's 2009 Anti-Corruption Act, which mandates the dismissal of public officials convicted of corruption from pension and payroll. It highlights that mapping, understanding and addressing underlying social norms that contribute to resisting such anti-corruption provisions is critical. The report emphasises that, while addressing institutional factors is important for ensuring smoother implementation of the law, it is necessary to tackle social norms to alleviate the social pressures⁴ that help sustain corrupt behaviour. To this end, the report suggests: i) weakening vertical pressure by limiting the power of senior officials to impose professional sanctions that reinforce corruption-sustaining social norms; and ii) empowering trendsetters, individuals whose behaviour deviates from corruptionsustaining social norms, among other strategies (Scharbatke-Church et al. 2020: 28-30).

Baez Camargo's (2022) study on Tanzania explores ways to target social norms to promote anti-corruption outcomes and leverage social networks to implement anticorruption interventions aimed at tackling bribery in public health facilities. Her approach consisted of: i) recruiting anti-corruption champions among health workers who would then disseminate messages against receiving gifts through their social networks; and ii) using environmental cues by placing posters for patients stating

⁴ The study identified two main types of corruption-sustaining social pressures: vertical, exemplified in following a superior's orders without regards for the rules, and horizontal, referring to pressure of avoiding contributing to administrative sanctioning processes (Scharbatke-Church et al. 2020: 28).

that health workers do not accept bribes, alongside messages aimed at health service providers appealing to their professional ethics (Baez Camargo 2022: 6). The study adopted a network approach, based on existing evidence that corruption facilitating social norms are often enforced through informal networks and the evidence that social networks play a fundamental role in shaping behaviours (e.g. Baez Camargo 2017; Baez Camargo et al. 2021; Schoenman 2014; Resimić 2021). Therefore, building alternative networks can be an essential resource in ensuring that positive role models can count on support of others in countering corruption (Baez Camargo 2022: 22). Post-intervention interviews provided some evidence that the messaging had a deterrent effect, with some respondents reporting that they conveyed a sense of feeling monitored (Baez Camargo 2022: 23).

A growing body of literature suggests the potential of social norms-nudging campaigns to motivate collective action against corruption (Köbis et al. 2015; Köbis et al. 2019; Meyer-Sahling et al. 2019; Erlich and Gans-Morse 2025). For example, Köbis et al. (2019) found that descriptive norms-messages on posters can help reduce bribery, but they also noted that social norm nudges⁵ alone are not sufficient to curb deeply embedded corruption. Instead, these nudges should serve as a complement to traditional anti-corruption policies.

Social empowerment

Social empowerment is another potential strategy for curbing corruption, particularly in contexts where corruption is widespread. It can help disrupt deeply embedded underlying power networks that contribute to the persistence of systemic corruption. In contexts where corruption is systemic, Johnston (1998) emphasised the importance of social empowerment, by which he meant expanding the range of political and economic resources and alternatives available to ordinary citizens. While he acknowledged that institutional reforms, advancing transparency and accountability, are indispensable, Johnston (1998) considered social empowerment necessary.

Subsequent studies have sought to operationalise the concept of social empowerment (for an overview, see: Jackson 2022). For example, Jackson (2022) proposed a strategy of social empowerment through collective action and reducing vulnerabilities to corruption. He suggested that collective action, whether among administrators, managers, community groups, businesses or political actors can serve as a tool for

⁵ Köbis et al. define social norm nudges as 'a nudge whose mechanism of action relies on social norms, i.e., on providing social information or eliciting social expectations with the intent of inducing desirable behaviour'.

empowerment and systemic change, helping to establish accountability mechanisms and sustain active resistance to corruption (Jackson 2022: 16; DLP 2018). Similarly, Khan et al. (2019) suggest that incentive driven collective action can have long-term effects in sustaining anti-corruption mobilisation. They propose redirecting the focus of anti-corruption interventions to the sectoral-level challenges that can activate selfinterest motivations among relatively powerful groups to push for the enforcement of rules (Khan et al. 2019).

A broad body of scholarship on 'clusters of excellence' or 'pockets of effectiveness' (Geddes 1990; Leonard 2010; Roll 2011, 2014; Willis 2014; Johnson 2015; McDonnell 2017, 2020; Hickey 2023) emphasises the role of high-integrity clusters within organisations that can serve as seeds of anti-corruption excellence that may then spread to other parts of the system and ensure long-term solutions to uphold public sector integrity. Such pockets of effectiveness can exist even in weak states plagued with rampant corruption, though establishing them is a significant challenge (van Eeden Jones and Lasthuizen 2018).

For instance, McDonnell's (2020) study of Ghana examines the emergence of a bureaucratic ethos within specific parts of the public administration and explains how these clusters of excellence emerged. These bureaucratic niches were sufficiently insulated from neo-patrimonial political influence and were led by cadres with what McDonnell describes as 'dual habitus': individuals who had experience in both the local environment and functionally bureaucratised contexts elsewhere (McDonnell 2020: 204). These cadres, who had discretion over personnel decisions, used their position to expand the cluster of excellence by recruiting staff who demonstrated an affinity for the bureaucratic ethos. Over time, this process resulted in the formation of a distinct subculture of bureaucracy, which stood in sharp contrast to the broader neo-patrimonial environment that characterised much of Ghana's public administration (McDonnell 2020).

Social empowerment can also be accomplished through capacity building in the public sector to address systemic forms of corruption. For example, Jackson et al. (2019) suggest that capacity-building programmes for parliamentarians in Jordan could focus on supporting them leverage their leadership positions within social networks to build a coalition of parliamentarians and establish normative constraints to oppose the most harmful forms of *wasta*.⁶ For example, one reason for the persistence of *wasta* is its role in enabling powerful political actors to maintain their hold on power by fulfilling constituents' demands for favours. A potential strategy to counter this would involve establishing alternative coalitions horizontally and close to

⁶ *Wasta* is concept in Jordan that means in simple terms 'using connections to get things done'. It is a practice channelled through social networks and sustained by social norms (Jackson et al. 2019; see also: Al-Hiari 2022).

the centre of power, which could gradually challenge this entrenched practice (Jackson et al. 2019: 22).

Citizens can also be empowered to monitor and hold public sector officials accountable through technology and data, especially in the management and allocation of public funds, an area highly vulnerable to corruption. Data transparency, achieved through publicly available, interactive, machine-readable and regularly updated data on budgets, public procurement and other aspects of public funding, enables citizens to monitor public expenditures and voice their concerns. For instance, the Transparency Portal in Brazil, launched by the office of the comptroller general in 2004, provides comprehensive information on budgets, procurement processes, contracts, suppliers and spending (Governance Matters Magazine 2023). The portal has around 1.4 million users every month (Governance Matters Magazine 2023).

Furthermore, citizens can support public officials who demonstrate a strong bureaucratic ethos. An example of this is the Integrity Icon media campaign run by citizens in Uganda naming accountable public officials to highlight positive role models (UK Aid 2020: 31). These initiatives can complement traditional anticorruption programming by providing a protective network for ethical officials, helping shield them from pressure or intimidation within their organisations (UK Aid 2020: 31).

Addressing the functional role of corruption

When it comes to reducing vulnerabilities to corruption, one consideration to keep in mind is that corruption may serve a functional role in contexts characterised by systemic corruption. As Marquette and Peiffer (2018) argue, framing corruption solely as a problem, whether through principal-agent or collective action models, creates a blind spot. These frameworks often fail to recognise that in systemic corruption contexts, corrupt practices can sometimes provide practical solutions to everyday problems (Marquette and Peiffer 2018).

For example, when the civil service is ill-equipped and underfunded, corruption may become a means for citizens to navigate dysfunctional systems. Jackson (2022) illustrates this with the case of bribery involving tax officials in the absence of a functional system of tax rules. Without clear regulations, businesses and bureaucrats may find it mutually beneficial to engage in corrupt exchanges, leading to an embedded system of corruption that co-opts other actors (Jackson 2022:18). To reduce vulnerabilities to such corrupt behaviour, digitalisation of tax administration can be an effective solution in addressing tax-related bribery. A successful example of this is seen in the Dominican Republic where the tax agency standardised its procedures and built a reputation for being non-corruptible by eliminating the use of informal means of settlements (Lozano 2012; for an overview of similar studies see: van Eeden Jones and Lasthuizen 2018).

The practice of *wasta* in Jordan, discussed in the previous section, also serves a functional role in the absence of effective formal public institutions (Jackson et al 2019). Jackson et al. (2019) argue that, to reduce vulnerabilities to such forms of corruption, it is essential to make formal institutions more reliable and effective than *wasta*. They highlight one approach where parliamentarians could focus on building efficient and responsive public institutions, going beyond merely establishing rules and procedures. This can include developing programmatic agendas centred on public service delivery (Jackson et al. 2019).

In another example, Boamah and Williams (2019) argue that people in Kenya may resort to power theft, bribery and other illegal activities in settings where electricity provision tends to be expensive and unreliable, and the infrastructure is deteriorating under routine bureaucratic neglect. They argue that proactive measures such as educating the public, removing bureaucratic bottlenecks and speeding up grid application processes, could discourage such forms of corruption (Boamah and Williams 2019: 8).

Horizontal enforcement

Anti-corruption reforms often face resistance in contexts characterised by systemic corruption, even when these reforms are targeted at specific sectors, deemed politically viable (Jackson and Amundsen 2022: 12). Therefore, some scholars argue for the importance of understanding political realities of specific sectors, as this can reveal opportunities to mobilise actors who are willing to support reform efforts. Such an understanding can also help to identify key factors for successful reforms, including the ability to influence others to support change and the capacity to expand networks that back anti-corruption initiatives (Jackson and Amundsen 2022: 12; Khan et al. 2019).

For instance, Khan et al. (2019) emphasise the role of coalitions in promoting the horizontal enforcement of reforms by identifying sectoral anti-corruption interventions that would sequentially target corruption in sectors where these measures are feasible and have a high impact (Khan et al. 2019: 18). The expectation is that these targeted strategies would help in improving developmental outcomes and consequently broaden the support for rule enforcement, opening the space for more comprehensive anti-corruption reforms (Khan et al. 2019: 18). They point out that external enforcement capabilities tend to be weak in developing countries, especially when they face powerful actors (Khan et al. 2019: 36). However, certain

rule-violations may harm equally powerful actors, who can be mobilised to help in the enforcement of rules that are socially desirable, and Khan et al. (2019: 36) suggest that these opportunities could be a good place to start. For example, when looking at the smuggling of sugar and rice in Tanzania, Khan et al. (2019) identified several context specific causes of corruption, such as political financing of elections and the political management of food scarcity and trade bans. They highlight a coalition of four main sugar producers who managed to lobby the government against traders and smugglers, securing exclusive import licences in 2017 (Khan et al. 2019: 39). Nevertheless, this success did not last as the new import licencing scheme did not lead to more domestic production, resulting in producers selling back their import licence to the traders (Khan et al. 2019: 39).

Understanding the local context, identifying key actors and finding leaders who can inspire change and horizontal enforcement is important. Local, influential actors, have specific knowledge and networks that can be leveraged to mobilise support for anti-corruption reforms (Jackson and Amundsen 2022). For example, Booth and Unsworth (2014) suggest that donor interventions should prioritise local leadership when developing solutions tailored to specific contextual challenges. In this process, it is also important to identify actors who stand to benefit most from reforms, who may not always be political figures. For example, Uberti (2020) suggests that students could be mobilised to counter corruption in the education sector in Albania. Uberti (2020) states that practitioners could think of ways to mobilise the student movement in supporting anti-corruption tools within the education sector, such as a pay-for-performance system, a reform of academic promotions, use of external monitoring when allocating research funds and other measures.

Other studies also emphasise the importance of local actors in promoting horizontal enforcement. For example, McDonnell's (2020: 206) study on the emergence of a bureaucratic ethos within public administration in Ghana found that effective clusters within the sector emerged when leaders delegated sufficient authority to the founding cadres, resulting in these clusters developing bonds of reciprocity in the institution-building process. Over time, this led to a creation of a distinct subculture of bureaucracy, whose members shared a sense of distinctiveness from the external environment which was operating based on neo-patrimonial rules. This sense of distinctiveness fostered group identification and necessitated efforts to protect the bureaucratic niche, which was accomplished through remaking internal practices and engaging in more ambitious efforts to remake the external environment (McDonnell 2020: 205). McDonnell's (2020) study challenges conventional approaches that advocate for abstract monitoring systems and strategies focused on limiting discretion. Instead, her study suggests that intrinsic motivation among public officials is more effectively encouraged when there are clear opportunities for growth. This motivation can be nurtured by fostering bonds of learning and emulation within small clusters. When a small group of officials has the authority to make meaningful

decisions about how an institution is organised, they become more invested in its success and more committed to defending it (McDonnell 2020: 206).

Top-down leadership change

Changing the behaviour of leaders is also recognised in the literature as one strategy for improving public integrity in contexts characterised by systemic corruption. For example, van Eeden Jones and Lasthuizen (2018) found that ethical leadership⁷ plays a crucial role in building public sector integrity in Indonesia, offering insights into a setting with widespread corruption. Focusing on a large, state-owned electricity company, their study examined how ethical leadership contributed to the development of an organisational integrity policy programme. Their analysis suggested that ethical leadership should be established at multiple levels, both within and outside of an organisation for organisational integrity programmes to be effective (van Eeden Jones and Lasthuizen 2018: 181). They emphasised the importance of layered alignments of ethical leadership in contexts with widespread corruption. First, support from political leaders is essential to facilitate public sector organisational integrity, and ensure that 'pockets of effectiveness' not only survive but potentially diffuse to other parts of the system. Second, the organisation itself should have a strong and autonomous top executive leadership, free to develop integrity programmes. Finally, van Eeden Jones and Lasthuizen (2018: 183) argue that an organisation should have executive managers who lead by example to ensure integrity in the work of an organisation.

Other empirical research found support for theoretical expectations that ethical leadership plays an important role for the integrity of public administration. For instance, a study on corruption in the health sector in Rwanda, Tanzania and Uganda found that leaders can serve as role models for diffusing ethical behaviour within an organisation (Camargo et al. 2020). Some other studies suggest that ethical leadership plays an important role for the integrity of public administration (see Jenkins 2022). For instance, a study of Israeli regional council employees found that greater standards of ethical leadership were positively associated with employees' awareness of the code of ethics (Beeri et al. 2013). Conversely, studies also found that negative examples (e.g. when leaders openly bypass rules and procedures) can lead to dysfunctional integrity frameworks as junior staff learn from the unethical behaviour of leaders and emulate it (Hanna et al. 2013).

⁷ By ethical leadership, they consider 'the leader's ability to cultivate ethical conduct among followers by setting a good example; two-way communication about ethics and reinforcement of integrity through discipline and rewards' (cf., Brown et al. 2005; van Eeden Jones and Lasthuizen 2018: 176).

Big bang versus incremental approach

Each of these alternative strategies can also be placed within the academic debate over whether a 'big bang' or incremental approach works best to improve public sector integrity. The big bang approach to anti-corruption reform relates to the pace of reforms and is usually contrasted with incremental approaches. Despite some definitional differences about the meaning of the two concepts, the big bang approach typically refers to a sufficiently comprehensive and rapid institutional change designed to compel the broader society to alter its behaviour within a relatively short period of time (see Stephenson 2019).

The argument for a big bang approach to anti-corruption in contexts characterised by systemic corruption is grounded in the assumption that the payoff for engaging in corruption is higher in these environments compared to low-corruption settings as the former can get stuck in a high-corruption equilibrium, where individuals are incentivised to engage in corruption (Jackson 2020: 15; see also Rose-Ackerman 1999; Collier 2006; Rothstein 2011). To break this vicious cycle, proponents argue that a big bang approach is needed in contexts with systemic corruption (Jackson 2020; Collier 2006; Sparrow 2008; Rothstein 2011; Akerlof 2016; Fisman and Golden 2017; see also: Stephenson 2019).

According to this view, reforms must be extensive to achieve behavioural change in the public sector because public officials play a crucial role in signalling the 'rules of the game', and the public's perception of institutions can either reinforce or undermine anti-corruption efforts (Rothstein 2005; Jackson 2020). A notable example of such a rapid change was in Georgia after 2004 when comprehensive anti-corruption reforms included massive purges in the public sector, especially of police officers and civil servants, strict punishments for corruption offences and salary increases (Alam and Southworth 2012; Börzel and Pamuk 2012; Sundell 2016).

However, Stephenson (2019) cautions that, that even if corruption was selfreinforcing, this does not necessarily mean that a big bang approach is the most effective solution. Rather, he suggests that cumulative, incremental reforms hold more promise. As with the other strategies, the local context matters, and it should be taken into account before deciding on the pace and comprehensiveness of anticorruption reforms (Stephenson 2019; Jackson 2020).

References

Akerlof, R. 2016. <u>Anger and enforcement</u>. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, Vol. (part B): 126: 110.

Alam, A. and Southworth, V. R. 2012. <u>Fighting</u> <u>corruption in public services: Chronicling</u> <u>Georgia's reforms</u>. The World Bank.

Al-Hiari, A. A. 2022. <u>Corruption or culture?</u> <u>Evaluating elite definitions of "wasta" in</u> <u>Jordan</u>. Public Integrity, Vol. 26(3): 273-284.

Avis, E., Ferraz, C., and Finan, F. 2016. <u>Do</u> government audits reduce corruption? Estimating the impacts of exposing corrupt politicians. NBER Working Paper Series. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Baez Camargo C. et al. 2019. Social norms and attitudes towards corruption: Comparative insights from East Africa. In <u>Corruption, Social</u> <u>Sciences and the Law: Exploration Across the</u> <u>Disciplines</u>, ed. Ellis, J., pp. 223–37.

Baez Camargo C. et al. 2021. <u>It takes a network</u> to defeat a network: What collective action practitioners can learn from research into <u>corrupt networks</u>. Policy Brief 8. Basel Institute on Governance.

Baez Camargo, C. 2017. <u>Corruption, social</u> norms and behaviours: a comparative assessment of Rwanda, Tanzania and Uganda. Basel Institute on Governance.

Baez Camargo, C. 2022. <u>Developing anti-</u> corruption interventions addressing social norms: Lessons from a field pilot in Tanzania. Working paper 40. Basel Institute of Governance. Beeri, I., Dayan, R., Vigoda-Gadot, E., and Werner, S. B. 2013. Advancing ethics in public organizations: The impact of an ethics program on employees' perceptions and behaviors in a regional council. Journal of Business Ethics, Vol. 112(1). pp 59–78.

Bicchieri, C. 2017. <u>Norms in the wild: How to</u> <u>diagnose, measure, and change social norms</u>. Oxford University Press.

Boamah, F. and Williams, A. 2019. 'Kenyapowerless' – Corruption in electricity as 'problem-solving' in Kenya's periphery. U4 Brief 2019:1. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Booth, D. and Unsworth, S. 2014. <u>Politically</u> <u>smart, locally led development</u>. Discussion paper. ODI.

Brown, M. E., Treviño, L. K., and Harrison, D. A. 2005. <u>Ethical leadership: A social learning</u> <u>perspective for construct development and</u> <u>testing</u>. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, Vol. 97(2): 117–134.

Börzel, T. A. and Pamuk, Y. 2012. <u>Pathologies of</u> <u>Europeanisation: Fighting corruption in the</u> <u>southern Caucasus</u>. West European Politics, Vol. 35(1): 79–97.

Camargo, C. et al. 2020. <u>Petty corruption in the</u> <u>public sector: A comparative study of three East</u> <u>African countries through a behavioural lens</u>. <u>African Studies, Vol. 79(2): 232-249</u>.

Chayes, S. 2016. <u>The structure of corruption: A</u> <u>systemic analysis using Eurasian cases</u>. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Chiao, V. 2021. <u>Corruption and the criminal</u> <u>law: Assurance and deterrence</u>. The University of Toronto Law Journal, Vol. 71: 8-34. Collier, P. 2006. <u>African growth: Why a 'big push'?</u> Journal of African Economies, Vol. 15(2): 188-211.

Development Leadership Program (DLP). 2018. Inside the black box of political will: 10 years of findings from the Developmental Leadership Program.

Erlich, A. and Gans-Morse, J. 2025. <u>Can normbased information campaigns reduce</u> <u>corruption?</u> American Journal of Political Science.

Falisse, J. and Leszczynska, N. 2022. <u>Do</u> anticorruption messages improve public service delivery? Insights from a lab-in-the-field experiment in Burundi. The Journal of Development Studies, Vol.58(1): 96-114.

Fisman, R. and Golden, M. A. 2017. <u>Corruption:</u> what everyone needs to know. Oxford University Press.

Geddes, B. 1990. Building "state" autonomy in Brazil, 1930–64. Comparative Politics, Vol. 22(2): 217–235.

Gofen, A., Meza, O., and Pérez Chiqués, E. 2022. <u>When street-level implementation meets</u> <u>systemic corruption</u>. Public Administration and Development, Vol. 42(1): 72-84.

Governance Matters Magazine. 2023. <u>Putting</u> <u>integrity at the heart of public service</u>. Chandler Institute of Governance.

Hanna, R. et al. 2013. <u>Social learning theory: A</u> <u>multicultural study of influences on ethical</u> <u>behavior</u>. Journal of Marketing Education, Vol. 35(1): 18- 25.

Hawkins, E. 2022. <u>Collective action</u>, <u>Corruption</u>, and social norms: A roadmap. CJL. Herath, D., Lindberg, J., and Orjuela, C. 2019. Swimming upstream: Fighting systemic corruption in Sri Lanka. Contemporary South Asia, Vol. 27(2): 259-272.

Hickey, S. (ed.). 2023. <u>Pockets of effectiveness</u> and the politics of state-building and <u>development in Africa</u>. Oxford University Press.

Hoffmann, L. K. and Patel, R. N. 2017. Collective action on corruption in Nigeria: A Social norms approach to connecting society and institutions. Chatham House Report. Chatham House, The Royal Institute of International Affairs.

Huberts, L. W. J. C. 1998. <u>What can be done</u> against public corruption and fraud: Expert views on strategies to protect public integrity. Crime, Law and Social Change, Vol. 29: 209– 224.

Jackson, D. 2020. <u>How change happens in</u> <u>anticorruption: A map of policy perspectives</u>. U4 Issue 2020:14. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Jackson, D. 2022. <u>Building anti-corruption</u> resilience to combat entrenched corruption systems. U4 Issue 2022:17. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Jackson, D. and Amundsen, I. 2022. <u>Tuning in</u> to the politics of (anti-)corruption: astute interventions and deeper accountability. U4 Issue 2022:3. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Jackson, D. and Köbis, N. 2018. <u>Anti-</u> <u>corruption through a social norms lens</u>. U4 Issue 2018:7. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre. Jackson, D., Tobin, S., and Eggert, J. P. 2019. Capacity building for politicians in contexts of systemic corruption: Countering 'wasta' in Jordan. U4 Issue 2019:9. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Jenkins, M. 2015. <u>Public sector integrity topic</u> <u>guide</u>. Anti-Corruption Helpdesk. Transparency International.

Jenkins, M. 2022. <u>The effectiveness of integrity</u> <u>led anti-corruption interventions</u>. U4 Helpdesk Answer. Transparency International and U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Johnsøn, J., Taxell, N., & Zaum, D. 2012. Mapping evidence gaps in anti-corruption. Assessing the state of operationally relevant evidence in donors' actions and approaches to reducing corruption. U4 Issue 2012:7. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Johnson, M. C. 2015. Donor requirements and pockets of effectiveness in Senegal's bureaucracy. Development Policy Review, Vol. 33(6): 783–804.

Johnston, M. 1998. <u>Fighting systemic</u> corruption: Social foundations for institutional reform. The European Journal of Development Research, Vol. 10(1): 85–104.

Khan, M., Andreoni, A., and Roy, P. 2019. <u>Anti-</u> corruption in adverse contexts: strategies for improving implementation. Working Paper 013. Anti-Corruption Evidence (ACE) SOAS Consortium.

Köbis, N. et al. 2015. <u>"Who doesn't?" - The</u> impact of descriptive norms on corruption. PLoS ONE, 10(6): e0131830. Köbis, N. et al. 2019. <u>Social norms of corruption</u> in the field: social nudges on posters can help to reduce bribery. Behavioural Public Policy, Vol. 6(4): 597-624.

Kubbe, I. and Engelbert, A. (eds). 2018. Corruption and norms: <u>Why informal rules</u> <u>matter</u>. Palgrave Macmillan.

Kubbe, I., Baez Camargo, C., and Scharbatke-Church, C. 2024. <u>Corruption and social norms:</u> <u>A new arrow in the quiver</u>. Annual Review of Political Science, Vol. 27: 423-444.

Kuyumdzhieva, A., Dell, G., and Földes, Á. 2015. <u>Integrity of public officials in EU</u> countries: International norms and standards. Transparency International.

Leonard, David K. 2010. 'Pockets' of effective agencies in weak governance states: Where are they likely and why does it matter? Public Administration and Development, Vol. 30(2): 91–101.

Lozano, W. (2012). Development opportunities: Politics, the state, and institutions in the Dominican Republic in the twenty-first century. In A. Portes & L. D. Smith (Eds.), Institutions count: Their role and significance in Latin American development (pp. 113–129). Berkeley: University of California Press.

Mackie, G. et al. 2015. What are social norms? How are they measured? UNICEF/University of California San Diego, Center on Global Justice.

Marquette, H. and Peiffer, C. 2018. <u>Grappling</u> with the "real politics" of systemic corruption: <u>Theoretical debates versus "real-world"</u> <u>functions</u>. Governance, Vol. 31(3): 499-514. Marquette, H., Pavarala, V., and Malik, K. K. 2014. <u>Religion and attitudes towards corruption</u> in India: A collective action problem? Development in Practice, Vol. 24(7): 8854– 8866.

McDonnell, E M. 2017. Patchwork Leviathan: How pockets of bureaucratic governance flourish within institutionally diverse developing states. American Sociological Review, Vol. 82(3): 476–510.

McDonnell, E M. 2020. Patchwork Leviathan: Pockets of bureaucratic effectiveness in developing states. Princeton University Press.

Meyer-Sahling, J-H., Mikkelsen, K. S., and Schuster, C. 2019. <u>The causal effect of public</u> service motivation on ethical behavior in the public sector: Evidence from a large-scale survey experiment. Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, Vol. 29(3): 445-459.

Mugellini, G., et al. 2021. <u>Public sector reforms</u> and their impact on the level of corruption: A <u>systematic review</u>. Cambell Systemic Reviews, Vol. 17(2).

Mullard, S. 2020. <u>Corruption, informality and</u> social norms. Introductory overview. U4 Brief 2020:17. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Mungiu-Pippidi, A. 2006. <u>Corruption:</u> <u>Diagnosis and treatment</u>. Journal of Democracy, Vol. 17(3): 86–99.

Mungiu-Pippidi, A. 2011. <u>Contextual choices in</u> fighting corruption: Lessons learned. NORAD.

Mungiu-Pippidi, A. 2015. <u>The quest for good</u> governance. How societies develop control of <u>corruption</u>. Cambridge University Press. Mungiu-Pippidi, A. and Dadašov, R. 2017. When do anticorruption laws matter? The evidence on public integrity enabling contexts. Crime, Law and Social Change, Vol. 68: 387-402.

OECD. 2017. <u>OECD Legal instruments.</u> Recommendation of the Council on Public Integrity.

Olson, M. 1965. The logic of collective action: Public good and the theory of groups. Harvard University Press.

Persson, A., Rothstein, B., and Teorell, J. 2013. Why anticorruption reforms fail–Systemic corruption as a collective action problem. Governance, Vol. 26(3): 449–471.

Resimić, M. 2021. Network ties and the politics of renationalization: Embeddedness, political– business relations, and renationalization in post-Milosevic Serbia. Comparative Political Studies, Vol. 54(1).

Resimić, M. 2022. <u>Integrity training for public</u> <u>officials</u>. Anti-Corruption Helpdesk. Transparency International.

Resimić, M. 2023. <u>Anti-corruption agencies and</u> income, interest and asset declaration (IIAD) system: An overview of good practice examples. Anti-Corruption Helpdesk Answer. Transparency International.

Roll, M. (2011). <u>The state that works: Pockets of</u> <u>effectiveness as a perspective on stateness in</u> <u>developing countries</u>. Working papers No. 128. Mainz: Johannes Gutenberg Universitaet.

Roll, Michael. 2014. The politics of public sector performance: Pockets of effectiveness in developing countries. New York: Routledge. Rose-Ackerman, S. 1999. Corruption and government: Causes, consequences, and reform. Cambridge University Press.

Rothstein, B. 2011. <u>Anti-corruption: The</u> <u>indirect 'big bang' approach</u>. Review of International Political Economy, Vol. 18(2): 228-250.

Rothstein, B., and Teorell, J. 2015. <u>Getting to</u> <u>Sweden, part II: Breaking with corruption in</u> <u>the nineteenth century</u>. Scandinavian Political Studies, Vol. 38(3): 238–254.

Rothstein, B., and Varriach, A. 2017. <u>Making</u> <u>sense of corruption</u>. Cambridge University Press.

Scharbatke-Church, C. and Chigas, D. 2019. Understanding social norms. A reference guide for policy and practice. The Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy.

Scharbatke-Church, C., Atkin, T. and Chigas, D. 2020. <u>Understanding the underlying values</u>, norms and behaviours constraining the implementation of administrative sanction in the Ugandan public service.

Schoenman, R. 2014. Networks and institutions in Europe's emerging markets. New York, NY, Cambridge University Press.

Soraperra, I. et al. 2019. <u>A market for integrity</u> <u>An experiment on corruption in the education</u> <u>sector</u>. CREED Working Paper. Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Sparrow, M. K. 2008. The character of harms: Operational challenges in control. Cambridge University Press.

Stephenson, M. 2019. <u>Corruption as a self-reinforcing "trap"</u>: <u>Implications for reform</u> <u>strategy</u>. Working Paper Series 2019:10. The Quality of Government Institute. Sundell, A. 2016. <u>Anti-corruption reform –</u> <u>Evolution or big bang?</u> Dissertation brief series 2016:08. Stockholm: Expert Group for Aid Studies (EBA).

Uberti, L. J. 2020. <u>Identifying feasible, high-</u> impact anti-corruption interventions: The case <u>of Albania</u>. U4 Issue 2020:9. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre.

Van Eeden Jones, I. and Lasthuizen, K. 2018. Building public sector integrity in Indonesia: The role and challenges of ethical leadership. Asia Pacific Journal of Public Administration, Vol. 40(3): 175-185.

Willis, Eliza J. 2014. "An enduring pocket of effectiveness: The case of the National Development Bank of Brazil (BNDE)." In The Politics of Public Sector Performance: Pockets of Effectiveness in Developing Countries, edited by M. Roll, 74–96. London: Routledge.

Disclaimer

All views in this text are the author(s)', and may differ from the U4 partner agencies' policies.

Creative commons

This work is licenced under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0

International licence (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)



Corruption erodes sustainable and inclusive development. It is both a political and technical challenge. The U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre (U4) works to understand and counter corruption worldwide.

U4 is part of the Chr. Michelsen Institute (CMI), an independent development research institute in Norway.

www.u4.no u4@cmi.no

U4 partner agencies

German Corporation for International Cooperation – GIZ

German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development – BMZ

Global Affairs Canada

Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark / Danish International Development Assistance – Danida

Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation – Norad

Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency – Sida

Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation – SDC

UK Aid – Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office